






























decimated account K0058.3o Id. Despite this apparent and clear contradiction, no inquiry was

ever made by the PFG.

Generally, violations that are isolated or inherently difficult to detect do not "give rise to

any inference of supervisory failure." In re Paragon Futures Assoc., at 38,850. However, the

violations and questionable activities associated with K0058 were neither isolated nor difficult to

detect. Despite these numerous complaints and questionable acts, including the three months of

unauthorized trading discussed above, PFG failed to institute any sort inquiry, review, or

investigation into the handling ofK0058 during its operation.31 See In re MF Global Inc., (2007-

2009 Transfer BinderJ Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~ 30,730 (Dec. 26,2007); In re Thomas W

Collns, ~ 27,194; In re GNP, (1990-1992J Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~ 25,360 at 39,219 (Aug.

1 i, i 992). Furthermore, the Respondents' previously discussed unauthorized trade violation

constitutes independent proof of Respondents failure to supervise. In re GNP, at 38,850 (the

existence of undetected violations is independent proof of a failure to supervise if the violations

should have been detected).

Therefore, based on reasoning stated above, this court finds that PFG violated i 66.3 by

failing to diligently supervise Chu's account.

Fraud

Finally, the evidence on record demonstrates Respondents defrauded Chu in the opening

and maintaining of account K0058, violating Section 4b of the Commodity Exchange Act

("CEA,,).32 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a) (2006). Chu's breach of agreement claim is also encompassed

30 Resp't Ex. 2S; Tr. II, p. 71-72

31 Hr'g Tr. Vol. II, 106-121, Dec. 5, 200S
32 The relevant part of Section 4b states that it shall be unlawful for any person connected to the sale of a commodity

contract to "willfully deceive or attempt to deceive such other person by any means whatsoever in regard to any
such order or contract or the disposition or execution of any, or in regard to any act of agency performed with
respect to such order or contract for such person." CEA, 7 U.S.c. § 6b(a) (2006).
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under this Section 4b violation. See Tysdal v. Jack Carl13l2 Futures, Inc. (1990- 1992 Transfer

BinderJ Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~ 25,242 (CFTC Feb. 27, 2992).

To establish a Section 4b fraud violation of the CEA, a complainant must prove by a

preponderance of the evidence: (1) a material misrepresentation or omission by the Respondent;

(2) scienter; (3) reliance on the misrepresentation or omission by the complainant; and (4)

damages that are proximately caused by the party's reliance on respondent's misrepresentation.

Hammond v. Smith Barney Harris Upham & Co., (1987-1990 Transfer BinderJ Comm. Fut. L.

Rep. (CCH) 24,617 (CFTC Mar. 1, 1990).33 Whether these four elements have been met wil be

discussed below.

The record demonstrates Respondents failed to disclose material facts to Chu. A fact is

material if "there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider the

information important in making a decision to invest." R & W Technical Services Ltd., v CFTC,

205 F3d 165, at 169 (5th Cir. 2005); citing TSC Indus. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, at 449

(1976); CFTC v. Weinberg, 287 F. Supp. 2d 1100, at 1105 (C.D. CaL. 2003). Respondents failed

to inform Chu that the $500,000 T-Bil she requested was not purchased. The request for the T-

Bill was written on the new account request form Chu used to open account K0058, and was

consistent with Chu's discussions with Respondents and Huang.34 Respondents had a minimum

obligation to inquire about the $500,000 T-Bil request found on the new account Request form.

However, Respondents failed to inquire about the request, and they failed to inform Chu that the

requested T-Bil was not purchased. The Commission has stated that "when a customer makes

known that he or she intends to rely on an commodity professional to perform special

33 See also Horn v. Ray E. Friedman and Company, 776 F.2d 777 (CA8 Ark. 1985); In re Slusser (1998-1999

Transfer Binder) Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ir 27,701 at 27,417 (CFTC July 19, 1999); Omega Cotton Company v.
Brown (2005-2007 Transfer Binder) Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ir 30,217 (CFTC April 7, 2006)
34 Resp't Ex. 27; Hr'g Tr. Vol. Il, 90-91, December 2,2008; Hr'g Tr. Vol. I, 25-26, June 3, 2008

17



instructions, the professional must undertake the duty unless he or she disavow( s J that duty... in

unequivocal language." Do v. Lind-Waldock & Company (1994-1996 Transfer BinderJ Comm.

Fut. L. Rep. CCH ~ 25,516, FN. 5 (CFTC Sept. 27,1995), citing Avis v. Shearson, Hayden

Stone, Inc., (1980-1982 Transfer BinderJ Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~ 21,379 (CFTC Apr. 13,

1982). Clearly, a reasonable investor would want to know whether or not a requested order was

executed, a material fact not disclosed by the Respondents. Respondents' failure to purchase the

requested T - Bill was a material fact, and one that they had a duty to disclose in "unequivocal

language." Id.

Respondents also failed to inform Chu that they were permitting Huang to place trades in

account K0058.35 Respondents engaged in fraudulent unauthorized trading because they

executed trades in K0058 contrary to Chu's instructions. In re Mock, (2000-2002 Transfer

BinderJ Com. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~ 28,662 at 52,599 (CFTC Oct. 10,2001) (finding that an AP

engaged in fraudulent unauthorized trading in violation of 4b when he wilfully executed trades

contrary to customers' instructions); citing In re Interstate Securities Corp., (1990-1992 Transfer

BinderJ Com. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~ 25,295 at 38,955 (CFTC June 1, 1992).

The next element, scienter, is established by showing that the Respondents' acts were

"committed intentionally or with reckless disregard for their duties under the Act." In the Matter

of Slusser (19981999 Transfer BinderJ Comm. Fut. L. Rep. CCH ~27,701 (CFTC July 19,

1999).36 A respondent's conduct is "reckless" when their actions depart "so far from the

standards of ordinary care that it's very difficult to believe that the (actorJ was not aware of what

he was doing." Do v. Lind-Waldock & Company (1994-1996 Transfer Binder) Comm. Fut. L.

Rep. CCH ~ 25,516 (CFTC Sept. 27,1995). Respondents' failure to inquire about Chu's T-Bill

35 Resp't Ex. 53; Hr'g Tr. Vol. 1,25-26, June 3, 2008; Hr'g Tr. Vol. II, 71-72, 90-91, December 2,2008
36 See also Hammondv. Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Co. 

Inc. (1990-1992 Transfer Binder) Comm. Fut. L. Rep.
CCH i¡24,617 (CFTC Mar. 1, 1990); CFTC v. Weiberg, 287 F. Supp. 2d 1100, at 1105 (C.D. CaL. 2003)
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request constitutes a reckless disregard for their duties under the CEA, especially considering the

conversations between Chu and Kelly prior to the opening ofK0058. While PFG was not

required to execute the order, they were required to take reasonable steps to find out about Chu's

request. Do v. Lind-Waldock & Co.; Drexel Burnham Lamber v. CFTC, 850 F.2d 842, 848

(D.C. Cir. 1988), citing First Commodity Corp. of Boston v. CFTC, 676 F.2d 1,7 (1st Cir. 1982);

Mazoya v. Heinold Commodities, Inc., 871 F.2d 672, at 679 (7th Cir. 1989); Hammond at 36,659

n.21 (collecting cases interpreting "recklessness"). Furthermore, Respondents acted recklessly

in failing to ascertain Huang's trade authority before permitting her to place trades that ran

contrary to Chu's instructions. See In re Interstate Securities Corp., (1990-1992 Transfer

BinderJ Com. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) i125,295 at 38,955 (CFTC June 1, 1992); In re Mock, (2000-

2002 Transfer BinderJ Com. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) i128,662 at 52,600 (CFTC Oct. 10,2001).

Moving on to the third element, reliance, it's clear that Chu reasonably relied on the T-

Bill request found on the new account request letter, as well as her conversations with Kelly and

Huang, in believing that her T-Bill request would be executed and her account would be

adequately maintained. Prior to opening account K0058, Chu had discussed with both

Respondents Kelly and Huang that the purpose of the new account was not to trade, but to

generate interest through the purchase of the requested T_Biii.37 These discussions led to Chu's

T-Bill request found on the new account request form.38

Regarding the final element, damages, it is apparent that by June 2005, Chu's K0058

account had suffered a loss of well over $500,000.39 If Respondents had inquired about the

requested T -Bil, or questioned the trade authority of Huang, Chu's account would not have

suffered these losses. The court recognizes that account K0058 was linked to other accounts for

37 Hr' g Tr. Vol. I, 25-26, June 3, 2009; Hr' g Tr. Vol. II, 90-9 I, December 2, 2008
38 Resp't Ex. 27
39 Am. Compl. Ex. H-4, June 25, 2007; Resp't Ex. 52, 53
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margin purposes and that the Customer Agreement provided PFG the right to use any funds

under their control to meet margin requirements.4o However, the trades that ultimately ended up

in K0058 went far beyond the expressed limited purposes of account K0058, and the T-Bil

requested was never purchased. Therefore, Respondents' actions were the proximate cause of

the damages Chu suffered.

Based upon the facts and reasoning stated above, it is evident that Respondents violated

Section 4b of the Commodity Exchange Act in their handling of account K0058. Respondents

recklessly failed to disclose the material fact that Chu's T-Bill request was never executed, and

that they were permitting Huang to place trades that ran counter to Chu's expressed instructions

for account K0058. These actions were resulted in the loss of Chu's $500,000.

PFG's Liabilty for James Kelly

During the time in question, Kelly was employed as an associated person for PFG.

Therefore, PFG is liable for the fraudulent conduct of Kelly, as an associated person and agent,

pursuant to 7 U.S.c. § 2(a)(1)(B).

Conclusions of Law

Based upon the findings of fact set forth above, Complainant Chu has established by the

preponderance of evidence that: (1) Respondents PFG and James Kelly violated Regulation

166.2 by executing unauthorized trades, 17 C.F.R. § 166.2 (2006); (2) Respondent PFG violated

Regulation 166.3 by failing to diligently supervise account K0058, 17 C.F.R. § 166.3 (2006); and

(3) Respondents PFG and James Kelly violated Section 4b of the CEA by recklessly failing to

follow the express instructions regarding account K0058 and failing to disclose material facts

from Complainant. 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a) (2006). These violations were the proximate cause of the

damages suffered by Complainant, and resulted in an out-of-pocket loss of $500,000.00.

40 Resp't Ex. 27; Resp't Ex 4, at 8
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Furthermore, PFG is liable for the violations committed by its agent, Respondent James Kelly,

committed in connection with his employment as an associated person for PFG, pursuant to 7

U.S.C. § 2(a)(I)(B) (2006).

ORDER

Respondents PFG and James Francis Kelly are hereby ORDERED to pay Complainant

ChenIi Chu her out-of- pocket losses totaling $500,000.00 plus interest from the date of this

judgment at a rate of O. 1 4% per annum. Respondents shall have 30 days to satisfy this award

once the judgment becomes finaL. Respondents shall be jointly and severally liable for the

payment of this judgment.

So ordered.
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